1992

# Juanita Wintle v. Georgia Ferguson : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction to hear this appeal is vested in the Supreme Court of the State of Utah, pursuant to Utah Code Annotated, §78-2-2(3)(j) (Supp, 1992), which states:

(3) The Supreme Court has appellate jurisdiction, including jurisdiction of interlocutory appeals, over:

(j) orders, judgments, and decrees of any court of record, which the Court of Appeals does not have original appellate jurisdiction.

### STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL AND STANDARD OF APPELLATE REVIEW

1. Did the trial court error by permitting the plaintiff to proceed on different claims, when such claims were first presented to the court at the time of trial when no prior request to amend the pleadings had been made by plaintiff and defendant/appellant objected to such amendment at such late date.

THE STANDARD OF REVIEW Where the lower court is given broad discretion to permit leave to amend pleadings, the Appellate Court does not disturb such ruling unless the appellant establishes an abuse of discretion resulting in prejudice to appellant. Chadwick v. Nielsen, 763 P2d 817 (Utah App., 1988).

2. Did the District Court error in making an equitable determination that a constructive trust exists and that the existence of such constructive trust was established by clear and convincing evidence.

THE STANDARD OF REVIEW Where the District Court is making an

equitable determination, it is the duty of the Supreme Court on appeal of an equity case to weigh the facts as well as to review the law. Jensen v. Brown, 639 P2d 150 (Utah, 1981) Reed v. Alvey 619 P2d 1374 (Utah, 1980); Matter of Hock's Estate, 655 P2d 1111 (Utah, 1982); Adams v. Gubler, 731 P2d 494 (Utah, 1986).

It is further the duty and prerogative of the Supreme Court to review both the law and the facts and to consider the weight and sufficiency of the evidence where the proceeding to be reviewed is in equity and is an attempt to establish an interest in land where legal title is vested in another. Richens v. Struhs, 412 P2d 314 (Utah, 1966).

DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS,  
STATUTES AND RULES

There are no constitutional provisions, statutes or rules which are applicable and determinative of the issues presented in this case.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The plaintiff/appellee herein commenced a quiet title action on or about August 1, 1986, alleging a fraudulent deed and/or invalid delivery. (R. 1-5)

Subsequent to the death of the plaintiff/appellee, Larry Wintle, was substituted as plaintiff in the above entitled matter by order of the court, dated April 21, 1988. (R. 21) The matter came on regularly for trial before the Honorable David E. Roth on the 18th day of March, 1991, at which time the plaintiff/appellee herein presented its case, under an



amended claim (TR. 3-5) despite objection by defendant/appellant (TR. 5-6).

The court declared that it was not going to decide this case without seeing the deposition of the decedent, Juanita Wintle (TR. 54) and at the conclusion of the case reserved ruling on motions pending submission of the deposition (TR. 97-99).

After receiving the unsigned original deposition of Juanita Wintle, the court issued a Memorandum Decision dated February 13, 1992, finding a constructive trust was created and each of Juanita Wintle's four (4) children were entitled to an equal share of this parcel of real property. (R. 91-93)

Judgment in favor of the plaintiff and against the defendant was entered by the court on or about March 31, 1992, (R. 111-112) from which the defendant filed the instant appeal on the 29th day of April, 1992. (R. 114)

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The plaintiff, Juanita Wintle, filed a Quit Claim Deed with the Weber County Recorder's Office on July 9, 1979, wherein Juanita Wintle, did quit claim to Juanita Wintle and Georgia Carbajal as joints tenants with full rights of survivorship, certain real property located in Weber County, State of Utah. (R. 75)

This action was commenced by non-verified Complaint on August 1, 1986, alleging same to be a quiet title action based

upon a fraudulent deed or delivery. (R. 1-5)

Additionally, a Lis Pendens was signed, filed and recorded on November 3, 1986, by plaintiff's attorney, Douglas M. Durbano. (R. 70)

After the defendant/appellant herein, filed an Answer to plaintiff's Complaint on September 15, 1986, (R. 8) the plaintiff's own deposition was scheduled through her attorney (R. 10) for the 16th day of October, 1986. (Dep. 1)

Other than the substitution of Larry Wintle and Brent Wintle as personal representative, no discovery was undertaken by either party, which is evidenced by the lack of any documentation in the file showing any discovery being undertaken.

Plaintiff filed a witness and exhibit list and Notice of Use of Loss of Deposition on or about March 4, 1991. (R. 66-67) which indicated the plaintiff intends to have the deposition retyped, published and used at trial on March 18, 1991 pursuant to the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. (R. 64)

The above entitled matter did come on regularly for trial before the Honorable David E. Roth, Judge of the above entitled court, sitting without a jury on March 18, 1991, and in plaintiff's opening statement counsel indicated the plaintiff would be presenting evidence to show a purchase money resulting trust or a constructive trust. (TR. 4)

Upon plaintiff presenting its opening statement and its intent to produce evidence on amended claims, defendant

objected to the plaintiff proceeding upon such claims, five (5) years after the lawsuit was instituted when such claims had not been presented previously and defendant indicated witnesses had been brought from the State of New Mexico on the basis of plaintiff's Complaint. (TR. 5-6)

Plaintiff's counsel indicated it could proceed by virtue of The Matter of the Estate of Hock, 65 P2d 1111, and the court indicated that it would reserve ruling on the objection since it did not have the Hock's case referred to by plaintiff's counsel, (TR. 7) when in fact the Hock's case does not discuss amendment of pleadings.

Brent Wintle, the substituted Personal Representative and one of the four heirs of Juanita Wintle's estate testified to a conversation between himself, Brent Wintle and his deceased mother, Juanita Wintle, as follows:

She told me she was intending on doing that and that Georgia would, at the time of her death, divide the house up amongst all four of us, but she wanted to provide Georgia with a place to live, because she was divorced and had no place to stay.  
(TR. 13)

The defendant objected to such testimony pursuant to Rule 601(c) of the Utah Rules of Evidence related to trustworthiness and corroboration to which the court indicated it would allow such statements and the weight to be given such statements could be argued. (TR. 14-15)

Brent Wintle further testified after six or eight months, Georgia moved to an apartment in South Ogden and he did not discuss any joint tenancy arrangement with his mother again,

until 1986, when Juanita Wintle wanted to sell such property.  
(TR. 17)

Brent Wintle further testified that he did not know the Quit Claim Deed had been prepared and recorded until 1986.  
(TR. 24)

While Larry Wintle a son and heir to Juanita Wintle's Estate was testifying and was asked a question relating to the deposition of Juanita Wintle taken in October, 1986, the court after defendant objected to Larry Wintle testifying to what Juanita Wintle said in her deposition, declared:

**The court: "Why don't I tell you right now I am not going to decide this case, without seeing that deposition."**

**Mr. Carmichael: "I can get ..."**

**The court: "Finish the evidence. I am going to see the deposition before I make a decision."**

The plaintiff also called Georgia Carbajal Ferguson as a witness who testified she felt it was in her mother's best interest to keep the house in case of medical problems and that older people are better off in their own homes unless they cannot be there any longer. (TR. 60)

Georgia Ferguson, appellant herein, also testified Juanita Wintle told her she brought this lawsuit because of her sons, and that she really wanted Georgia Ferguson to have the house. (TR. 61)

Georgia Ferguson also testified her mother, Juanita Wintle, indicated subsequent to requesting the property back, she didn't want it back any more. (TR. 64)

Georgia Ferguson testified she was married on May 30, 1979 in Covington, Kentucky to Truman Ferguson and she remained with him in Carlisle, Ohio until November, 1979 when they moved back to the State of Utah. (TR. 62-63) Defendant's marriage certificate was brought to court and was stipulated to as May 30, 1979 by plaintiff so that it would not be necessary for her to surrender the actual certificate. (TR. 63)

The defendant further testified on July 9, 1979, approximately six (6) weeks after her marriage, which is the date that the Quit Claim Deed was recorded, she was residing in Carlisle, Ohio with her husband, Truman Ferguson and had nothing to do with the recording of the Quit Claim Deed. (TR. 64)

At the close of the plaintiff's evidence, plaintiff indicated Juanita Wintle's deposition would be available within two months (TR. 70) and the defendant-appellant herein, motioned the court to dismiss plaintiff's complaint because the allegations contained in the plaintiff's complaint had not been established, and secondly, upon the basis that the plaintiff had not met its burden of clear and convincing evidence to establish either type of trust referred to in plaintiff's opening argument. (TR. 71-72)

The court thereupon indicated it would take defendant's motion to dismiss under advisement by virtue of the "haphazard" way this case has finally ended up in court. (TR

72) Defendant expressed concern with respect to how the deposition testimony which was not presented at the time of trial would effect defendant in presenting her case. (TR. 72-73)

Sheila Willie was called as a witness by defendant and testified as follows:

**Q: When you say she told you about her kids and her grandkids, what did she say?**

**A: Well, at one time when we were talking, she told me that she did not want any of her other kids having anything because none of them cared anything about her, except for Georgia. And she was the only one that ever did anything for her. She was the only one there when she needed her.**

**Q: Okay, now when she was making this statement there in the hospital, was she... in your opinion, was she able to understand what she was saying?**

**A: Yes, she knew what she was saying. She was coherent. She knew. (TR - 76)**

Ginger Millikan testified to a conversation in Easter of 1978, when Juanita Wintle had told her she wanted everything to go to Georgia and her kids. (TR. 80)

Larue Loock testified Juanita Wintle had told her she had signed the property over to Georgia and that she wasn't going to tell anybody about having done so. (TR 82-83)

Georgia Ferguson then testified Juanita Wintle, with whom she spoke to daily during her lifetime including when the lawsuit was proceeding, told her before her deposition of October, 1986, what she (Juanita Wintle) was going to say:

**A: She said she was going to say that she put it my name so the house did not go through probate**

or something like that. I think that's what Larry... you know, I don't know anything about probate myself so I am naive on it. She was going to say she didn't know Ginger and Austin and Willy Taylor. That she had only met them once. And where she had spent a lot of time at their homes. I said mother that is perjury, and you can't do that. She said I have to because Larry is going to be with me at the deposition and I don't want him to be mad at me. (TR 90-91)

Defendant further testified Juanita Wintle after the deposition stated that she would never sign the deposition because she did lie on it. (TR. 91)

During the trial, the Last Will and Testament of Juanita Wintle was admitted as evidence without objection. (R 76-82)

Juanita Wintle provided in her Will:

"The personal representative of my estate shall be reimbursed from my estate for any and all legal and related expenses incurred in legal action filed on my behalf entitled "Wintle v. Ferguson", filed in the Weber District Court, Civil Number: 96935."

The Will also provided as follows:

1. INCLUDED PROPERTY. It is my intent that all of the assets of which I may be possessed at my death, including all items of real, personal and mixed property, including all insurance policies which should be located with this Will, shall be included in the estate contemplated by this, my Last Will and Testament. (R 77-78)

Such Will was signed on December 17, 1986, and was witnessed by Douglas M. Durbano, who was also her attorney in this proceeding at that time. Such Will was signed approximately one and one half months after the original deposition was prepared for signature by Juanita Wintle and such deposition was never signed by Juanita Wintle (Dep. 35)

and no explanation other than the explanation advanced by defendant that she would not sign the Will has ever been presented.

Plaintiff/appellee's attorney submitted the original deposition of Juanita Wintle on or about December 11, 1991, approximately nine (9) months after the trial of March 18, 1991 (R. 104) and the court issued its Memorandum Decision, dated February 13, 1992. (R. 91-93)

With respect to the unsigned deposition of Juanita Wintle, (which was conducted on October 16, 1986) and which was noticed for hearing through her attorney, (Dep. 4) Juanita Wintle testified Georgia Ferguson lived with her for approximately six (6) months and that she was living with her at the time she signed the Quit Claim Deed, (Dep. 7) which is contrary to the evidence because of defendant's marriage in Kentucky.

Juanita Wintle also testified in her deposition she remembered going down to the Weber City and County Building and signing the Quit Claim Deed. (Dep. 10)

Juanita Wintle also testified Georgia Ferguson did not exert any pressure on her to prepare or record the Quit Claim Deed. (Dep. 16)

Juanita Wintle also stated she had told "the lady" at the City and County Building that she wanted Georgia's name on the deed with her and the Deed was prepared there in the City and County Building that same day by the lady that was in charge



at the Weber County Recorder's Office. (Dep. 17-18)

After such document was prepared, she indicated she signed it and had it recorded.

Juanita Wintle testified additionally as follows:

Q: (Mr. Perkins) You knew at the time, didn't you Mrs. Wintle, that when you put Georgia's name on it, that when you died, it went to Georgia?

A: No I didn't.

Q: Now..

A: I knew it would go to Georgia, but she was supposed to, like a said, supposed to have sold it and divided it equally. (Dep. 25-26)

Juanita Wintle was further asked the following questions and gave the following responses:

Q: That's not my question, though Ma'am. My question is, if you would like me to repeat it, is that you knew that you were signing a document that put the property in your name and Georgia's name, didn't you?

A: Yes.

Q: And you knew that it was being recorded that day, because you signed it right there at the county building, right?

A: Yes.

Q: And it is just that now... and at that time you trusted Georgia?

A: That's right?

Q: And now you don't trust Georgia?

A: That's right.

Q: But at the time you signed it and when you signed it in 1979, at that time, you knew that you were conveying it in Georgia's name?

A: Yes.

**Q: And she didn't lie to you about anything regarding you signing it, did she?**

**A: No. (Dep. 31-32)**

**SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Defendant Georgia Ferguson asserts the lower court committed error in allowing the plaintiff to proceed on amended claims of action first presented at the time of trial.

Defendant asserts the trial court's decision to take under advisement defendant's objection to proceeding on amended claims and then rendering its decision after receiving the deposition of Juanita Wintle some nine (9) months later without considering the effect of allowing such different claim constituted an abuse of discretion and unfairly prejudiced the defendant.

Defendant asserts the plaintiff, personal representative of Juanita Wintle's estate, did not establish by clear and convincing evidence the existence of a constructive trust. The personal representative failed to establish the existence of a confidential relationship nor the existence of undue influence, fraud or inequitable conduct by the defendant herein which would justify reformation of the deed.

Additionally, the District Court made no finding of such confidential relationship but based its decision upon the unsigned deposition of Juanita Wintle who expressed an intent to avoid probate by conveying the property to herself and the defendant. Allowing the grantor, Juanita Wintle, through her personal representative to attack and impeach her own deed in

the absence of fraud, duress, mistake or other proper conduct attributable to the defendant, Georgia Ferguson constitutes further error by the trial court.

#### ARGUMENT

##### I.

#### **THE LOWER COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN ALLOWING PLAINTIFF TO PROCEED UPON A NEW CAUSE OF ACTION RAISED FOR THE FIRST TIME AT TRIAL**

The Utah Supreme Court in Girard v. Appleby, 660 P2d 245 (Utah, 1983) held where plaintiff on the morning of trial, motioned to amend the Complaint comprising new and different causes of action as follows:

Rule 15(a) Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, permits the amendment of pleadings by leave of court, and the Rule is to be liberally construed so as to further the interest of justice. However, the Rule is to be applied with less liberality when the amendments are proposed during or after the trial rather than before trial.

In Girard v. Appleby, cited supra, the Utah Supreme Court upheld the lower court's refusal to allow such amendment where such changes were a significant change in the cause of action, were not consented to by the defendant, and no reason was adduced for not timely moving to amend his claim prior to trial. Girard's inability to state an adequate reason for the untimeliness of the motion did not present a case where "justice requires an amendment".

In Lloyd's Unlimited v. Nature's Way, 753 P2d 507 (Utah App., 1988), the Court of Appeals held the second part of Utah Rules of Civil Procedure 15(b) is permissive and must be

looked at to both afford the privilege of presenting legitimate contentions pertaining to the dispute balanced with the adverse side having reasonable notice of the issues raised and an opportunity to meet them.

Similarly, in Kelly v. Utah Power and Light, 746 P2d 1189 (Utah App. 1987), the Utah Court of Appeals affirmed the lower court, which had denied plaintiff's request to amend his complaint one week prior to trial where it had been pending over three years and such request to amend within one week of scheduled trial could have required a continuance which could have prejudice consolidation in cases, specifically declaring:

In considering a motion to amend, the trial judge must decide whether the opposing side would be put to unavoidable prejudice by having an issue adjudicated for which he had not time to prepare. Bekins Bar V. Ranch v. Huth, 664 P2d 455, 464 (Utah, 1983).

In Chadwick v. Nielsen, 763 P2d 817 (Utah App., 1988) the Court of Appeals held it could not say the trial court had abused its discretion in denying plaintiff's motion to amend her complaint on the morning of trial, declaring:

Generally, relief to amend is liberally allowed in the interest of justice, but justice is often uninterested in amendments alleging new and different causes of action on the eve of trial. See Staker, 664 P2d at 1190; Girard, 660 P2d at 248; Utah Rules of Civil Procedure 15(a). The amendment of pleadings on the eve of trial causes great disruption to the legal process and is unfair to an opponent who has conducted discovery, fully prepared the case and scheduled trial time based on the moving party's prior pleadings.

Nonetheless, there are certainly occasions

where justice excuses untimeliness. A motion to amend raised shortly before or at trial, in response to facts discovered subsequent to the prior pleading, should be allowed if there is a reasonable explanation for the delay in discovering the facts and the amendment is not unduly prejudicial to the opposing party.

In the instant proceeding, the plaintiff commenced her lawsuit in August, 1986, and trial was not conducted until March 18, 1991, and the decedent's unsigned deposition was not presented until December 11, 1991 and plaintiff had made no motion to amend its pleadings until the morning of trial when plaintiff's counsel suggested its evidence would show the existence of a constructive and/or purchase money resulting trust to the court. (TR 3-5)

Defendant-appellant asserts the defacto permitting of such amendment of plaintiff's pleading by the lower court without having made findings upon defendant-appellant's objection to such amendment being made at trial constitutes an abuse of discretion by the trial judge who failed to consider "whether the opposing side would be put to unavoidable prejudice by having an issue adjudicated for which he had not time to prepare" as stated in Kelly v. Utah Power and Light, 746 P2d 1189 (Utah App. 1987).

## II.

### **THE DISTRICT COURT ERRONEOUSLY HELD THAT A CONSTRUCTIVE TRUST WAS CREATED BY JUANITA WINTLE**

Juanita Wintle, the decedent herein, in her unsigned deposition dated October 16, 1986, gave testimony she knew she was signing a document that placed the property in her name

and in the name of Georgia Carbajal, the defendant herein and that she could not recall any misrepresentations being made by the defendant herein. (Dep. 31-34)

The defendant herein presented her marriage certificate which indicated she was married on May 30, 1979 in Covington, Kentucky and she and her husband, Truman Ferguson, remained in Carlisle, Ohio, from that time until she returned to the State of Utah November, 1979 at Thanksgiving and was not in the State of Utah when her mother, Juanita Wintle signed and recorded the Quit Claim Deed on July 9, 1979. (TR. 64-65)

In Mattes v. Olearain, 759 P2d 1177 (Utah App., 1988), the Utah Court of Appeals held:

A constructive trust is an equitable remedy to prevent unjust enrichment in the absence of any express or implied intention to form a trust. In the Matter of the Estate of Hock, 655 P2d 1111, (Utah, 1982). If the challenging party establishes a constructive trust by clear and convincing evidence, the trial court may alter a deed regular in form and presumed to convey clear title. Ashton v. Ashton, 733 P2d 147 (Utah, 1987). A constructive trust may be imposed if the grantee was in a confidential relationship with the grantor.

The Court of Appeals in considering what constitutes a confidential relationship in the legal sense in Mattes v. Olearain, cited for authority Webster v. Lehmer, 742 P2d 1203, 1206, wherein the Utah Supreme Court held:

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