1992

Juanita Wintle v. Georgia Ferguson : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Defendant-Appellant (the daughter, Georgia) asserts 3 points: (1) plaintiff-appellee (the mother, Juanita) made a late and prejudicial amendment to her cause of action by arguing the law of constructive trusts at trial (Br. Point I), (2) the trial court misapplied the law of constructive trusts (Br. Point II), and (3) findings of fact

are supported by a deposition not signed by the deceased mother contrary to the daughter's claim that the deposition is not reliable (not set out as a separate point but alluded to extensively, Br. 6-10, 12, 15, 17-19).

The mother asserts the trial court's decision is supported by clear and convincing evidence of both a constructive trust founded on confidential relationship and a purchase money resulting constructive trust.

In the view of the mother's counsel, all constructive trusts look alike at a distance; that is, they look like trusts imposed to prevent the unjust enrichment of persons holding legal or documentary title to another's property. Close up, an infinite verity of constructive trust subspecies and hybrids can be distinguished, each with subtle distinctive markings, all running wild on the judicial constructive trust range, where a lot of constructive trust inbreeding occurs.

A distinction sometimes made between a purchase money resulting constructive trust and a constructive trust founded on a confidential relationship is illustrated in Osterberg v. Osterberg, 563 P.2d 696 (Oregon 1977). This distinction is recognized in the Matter

of Estate of Hock, 655 P.2d 1111 (Utah 1982). A constructive trust founded on a confidential relationship is imposed where there is a breach or abuse of confidence, although absent a breach of fiduciary duty, resulting in unjust enrichment. Osterberg, 563 P.2d at 698. A purchase money resulting constructive trust is a constructive trust imposed on a mere showing that (1) one person paid for property (2) the title to which is placed in another's name without consideration, and (3) a gift to a spouse or child of the payor is not intended. The mother argues that a breach of confidence, or a breach of fiduciary duty, is evidence that a gift is not intended; and that such breach of confidence is evident in this case. The mother also argues that one set of facts can give rise to more than one legal reason to impose a constructive trust, and therefore, it does not matter on appeal which specific designation a trial court attaches to a finding of constructive trust. A canny constructive trustee could be a mere title holder, breach a confidence, breach a fiduciary duty, embezzle, lie, cheat and steal, all within the same factual background. Juanita claims that Georgia was a mere title holder, and also breached a confidence.

The trial court concluded "1. Based upon the above findings, it is the Court's opinion that defendant, Georgia Ferguson,

will be unjustly enriched if allowed to keep the property,” and “2. The Court finds that a construction [constructive] trust was created when Juanita Wintle transferred the property to herself and her daughter and that the intended result was that upon Juanita Wintle’s death all her children would share equally in the property” (Conclusions of Law, R. 109-110), which appears to be a correct application of constructive trust law to the facts in this case.

The pleadings, findings of fact, supporting evidence and conclusions of law, with references to the record, are discussed as follows.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

NO AMENDMENT TO THE PLEADINGS WAS NECESSARY

The daughter asserts the trial court permitted a “defacto” amendment to the complaint by listening to the legal argument of the mother’s counsel at trial that the law of constructive trusts applied to the facts in this case. Br. at 4, 15. Rule 8(e)(1) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure requires that “Each averment of a pleading shall be simple, concise, and direct. No technical forms of pleading or motions are required.” The mother’s complaint substantially

complies with this rule, and the trial court granted relief as prayed in the complaint based upon facts alleged in the complaint. The daughter does not point out the defects complained of and the details desired in the mother's pleadings, other than to assert the mother's legal argument at trial about the facts should have been expressly set out in the pleadings before trial.

Generally, one pleads facts, not legal theories, and prays judgment based on the facts alleged in the complaint. It is the duty of the trial court to find the law applicable to the facts established by the evidence. A trial court does not always or necessarily consider only those legal theories argued by counsel in reaching its decision.

POINT II

THE EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDING OF A CONSTRUCTIVE TRUST

Standard of review. "In our review of an equity case such as this, we will not disturb the trial court's findings of facts unless the evidence clearly preponderates against it." Matter of Estate of Hock, 655 P.2d 1111 (Utah 1982) at p. 1114.

The mother claims there is substantial evidence supporting the imposition of a constructive trust; and that the evidence supports the imposition of both a so-called constructive trust founded on a

confidential relationship and a so-called purchase money resulting constructive trust, arguing that both are variations of the concept of unjust enrichment.

Since the the daughter's counsel emphasized her own evidence without marshalling and attacking the evidence supporting the trial court's decision, counsel for the mother has searched the record for specific examples of evidence supporting the trial court's decision. Some of this evidence would support a finding of a purchase money resulting constructive trust, some would support a finding of a constructive trust founded on a confidential relationship, and some would support a finding of both a purchase money resulting constructive trust and a constructive trust founded on a confidential relationship. Juanita Wintle's testimony necessarily would be the more persuasive evidence before the trial court . A complete copy of the short deposition of Juanita is attached hereto as Appendix A for easy reference. Counsel has abstracted parts of the deposition here to assess factors claimed to be supportive of the trial court's findings.

The following factors gleaned from Juanita's deposition adequately support the trial court's decision impose a constructive

trust.

1. Intent. There is much testimony about Juanita's intent, including the following:

Q SO WHEN YOU SIGNED THIS QUIT-CLAIM DEED, WHAT WAS YOUR INTENT? WHAT WERE YOU TRYING TO ACCOMPLISH?

A TO KEEP IT FROM HAVING TO GO THROUGH PROBATE. (Dep. 11)

Q THAT'S WHAT THE DOCUMENT DOES. BUT WHO DID YOU WANT THE HOUSE TO GO TO?

A I WANTED IT TO GO TO ALL FOUR OF THEM.

Q ALL FOUR OF YOUR CHILDREN?

A YES. (Dep. 11)

2. No consideration.

Q DID YOU RECEIVE ANY MONEY OR COMPENSATION FROM ANYONE FOR SIGNING THIS DEED?

A NO. (Dep. 15)

3. Not a gift.

Q NOW, AT THIS PARTICULAR TIME, GEORGIA WAS -- SHE IS YOUR YOUNGEST DAUGHTER, AS I UNDERSTAND YOU?

A SURE.

Q AND YOU WERE ON GOOD TERMS WITH HER THEN?

A THAT'S RIGHT.

Q YOU'VE INDICATED THE REASON YOU PUT HER NAME ON IT AS THE TIME WAS THAT YOU DIDN'T WANT TO GO THROUGH PROBATE?

A YES.

Q NOW, ISN'T IT TRUE THAT YOU ELECTED AND DECIDED TO USE GEORGIA BECAUSE YOU DIDN'T TRUST ANY OF YOUR OTHER CHILDREN TO DISPERSE IT WHEN YOU BECAME DECEASED?

A NO, THAT'S NOT RIGHT. (Dep. 18, 19)

4. The mother's trust placed in a confidential relationship with her daughter.

Q WAS IT ABOUT THE SAME TIME AS YOU SIGNED A QUIT-CLAIM

DEED?

A SHE WAS LIVING WITH ME AT THE TIME I SIGNED THAT.

Q TELL US A LITTLE BIT ABOUT THE RELATIONSHIP THAT YOU HAD WITH YOUR DAUGHTER, GEORGIA, BACK IN 1979 WHEN SHE WAS LIVING WITH YOU.

A WELL, I HAD A GOO RELATIONSHIP WITH HER. I TRUSTED HER AND WE GOT ALONG REAL GOOD. (Dep. 7)

Q NOW --

A I KNEW IT WOULD GO TO GEORGIA, BUT SHE WAS SUPPOSED TO, LIKE I SAID, SUPPOSED TO HAVE SOLD IT AND DIVIDED IT EQUALLY.

Q BUT YOU KNEW IT WENT TO HER FIRST AND THEN SHE WAS SUPPOSED TO CARRY FORWARD AND THEN HAVE IT SOLD AND DIVIDED FOUR WAYS, RIGHT?

A SHE WAS TO LET LARRY SELL IT.

Q BUT YOU KNEW FIRST OF ALL THAT SHE WAS TO GET IT, RECEIVE THE PROPERTY, DIDN'T YOU?

A I DON'T KNOW THAT. (Dep. 26)

Q BUT HAS GEORGIA EVER TOLD YOU THAT SHE WOULDN'T DO JUST THAT THING, DIVIDE IT THE FOUR WAYS?

A I DON'T TRUST HER NO MORE. I USED TO TRUST HER SOMETIME, BUT I DON'T NO MORE.

5. Promises.

Q WHEN YOU SAY WE WERE TALKING, WHO WERE YOU TALKING WITH?

A GEORGIA AND I. AND SO THEN I GUESS I DECIDED TO LET HER PUT HER NAME ON THERE WITH ME SO IT WOULDN'T GO THROUGH PROBATE. SHE PROMISED ME IF ANYTHING HAPPENED TO ME SHE WOULD LET LARRY -- HE WAS EXECUTOR OF MY WILL -- SHE WOULD LET HIM SELL IT AND EVERYTHING WOULD BE DIVIDED EQUALLY THAT THEY GOT OUT OF THE HOUSE, THE PROPERTY. (Dep. 11)

Q TELL US, THEN, WHAT YOU DESIRED TO ACCOMPLISH BY SIGNING THIS QUIT-CLAIM DEED?

A WELL, I JUST FIGURED THAT IT WOULD PROBABLY KEEP IT

FROM GOING THROUGH PROBATE AND SHE PROMISED ME THAT SHE WOULD LET LARRY SELL IT AND IT WOULD BE DIVIDED UP EQUAL. (Dep. 12)

Q BUT SHE DIDN'T TELL YOU ANYTHING THAT YOU CAN REMEMBER THAT MADE YOU SIGN THAT DOCUMENT, DID SHE?

A ONLY THAT SHE WOULD SEE THAT LARRY SOLD IT AND DIVIDE IT EQUAL. (Dep. 30)

6. Susceptibility to influence.

Q AT THE TIME OF SIGNING THIS QUIT-CLAIM DEED, DID YOU UNDERSTAND WHAT IT MEANT AT THE TIME YOU SIGNED IT?

A I DON'T THINK I EVEN THOUGHT ABOUT IT, TO BE TRUTHFUL WITH YOU.

Q WHO WAS IT THAT EXPLAINED TO YOU THE LAW ABOUT PROBATE?

A WELL, SHE DID BECAUSE SHE HAD BEEN A LEGAL SECRETARY TO ALL THESE LAWYERS UP IN ALASKA. (Dep. 12)

Q I'LL REPHRASE IT FOR YOU. IT SAYS THAT GEORGIA KNOWINGLY AND FRAUDULENTLY TOLD YOU THE SIGNIFICANCE OR THE MEANING OF THE DOCUMENT OF THE QUIT-CLAIM DEED. SHE MADE SOME FALSE MISREPRESENTATIONS TO YOU SO THAT THE PROPERTY WOULD BE PUT IN HER NAME.

A SHE KNEW BECAUSE SHE HAD BEEN A LEGAL SECRETARY ALL ABOUT PROPERTY, WHICH I DIDN'T. (Dep. 29)

A SHE KNOW ALL THIS LEGAL STUFF, WHICH I DIDN'T. (Dep. 31)

7. Procurement.

Q MRS. WINTLE, GOING BACK TO 1979 WHEN YOU SIGNED THIS. YOU SAY GEORGIA WAS LIVING WITH YOU AT THE TIME?

A SHE WAS.

Q NOW, AS FAR AS THE NOTION AND PREPARATION FOR THIS QUIT-CLAIM DEED WHICH IS EXHIBIT 1, THE IDEA WAS YOUR IDEA, WASN'T IT?

A IT WAS BOTH OUR IDEAS.

Q THEN YOU'VE TESTIFIED THAT GEORGIA DIDN'T EXERT ANY

PRESSURE ON YOU TO DO IT, CORRECT?

A THAT'S RIGHT.

Q NOW, YOU UNDERSTAND YOU ARE UNDER OATH AND YOU HAVE TO TELL THE FULL TRUTH?

A WELL, I DID, THAT'S RIGHT.

Q OKAY.

A WE JUST TALKED ABOUT IT TOGETHER AND THAT WAS IT.

Q RIGHT. NOW, THE WAY THIS WAS ACCOMPLISHED IN DOING IT, FIRST OFF YOU KNEW THAT GEORGIA HAD WORKED AS A LEGAL SECRETARY IN AN ADMIRALTY OFFICE UP IN ALASKA?

A WELL, I DIDN'T KNOW WHAT OFFICE SHE WORKED IN, BUT I KNEW SHE WORKED AS A LEGAL SECRETARY.

Q BUT IN ANY EVENT, IN ORDER TO PREPARE THIS QUIT-CLAIM DEED TO FIND OUT HOW TO DO IT, YOU AND GEORGIA WENT DOWN TO THE COUNTY BUILDING, DIDN'T YOU?

A THAT'S RIGHT.

Q AND THEY TOLD YOU HOW TO DO IT, CORRECT?

A YES. (Dep. 16, 17)

8. Daughter's acknowledgement of trust and motive not to honor it.

Q OKAY. NOW, GOING BACK A LITTLE WHILE. YOU WANTED TO SELL THIS PARTICULAR HOUSE, DIDN'T YOU?

A THAT'S RIGHT, BECAUSE I CAN'T KEEP THE YARD UP AND DO ANYTHING IN IT.

Q AND YOU WANTED TO BUY A DUPLEX FROM LARRY AND BRENT, YOUR TWO SONS?

A I WAS GOING TO BUY ONE.

Q AND YOU WERE GOING TO SELL THIS PROPERTY AND THEN MOVE INTO THIS DUPLEX?

A THAT'S RIGHT.

Q AND IT WAS AFTER YOU WEREN'T ABLE TO SELL THIS HOUSE THAT YOU DECIDED TO DO THIS?

A NO, I WASN'T. IT WASN'T AFTER I WASN'T ABLE TO SELL. IT WAS BECAUSE SHE, ON THE LAST SATURDAY IN APRIL, SHE TOLD ME SHE WOULD SIGN THE DEED BACK TO ME. THEN ON SUNDAY LARRY AND MY OTHER DAUGHTER GOT IN A BIG ARGUMENT. SO THE DAUGHTER UP IN BRIGHAM CALLED HER, GEORGIA, AND BETWEEN THE TWO OF THEM SHE SAID SHE WOULD SIGN IT NO MORE.

- Q NOW --
- A WASN'T BECAUSE I COULDN'T SELL MY PROPERTY BECAUSE IT'S IN A CHOICE AREA.
- Q NOW, DIDN'T GEORGIA REFUSE TO LET YOU SELL IT BECAUSE SHE DIDN'T THINK IT WOULD BE THE BEST THING FOR YOU TO MOVE INTO A NEW DUPLEX?
- A SHE JUST DIDN'T WANT ME TO MOVE, PERIOD. SHE CLAIMED THAT PEOPLE HAD TROUBLE ADJUSTING AFTER THEY MOVED AND LIVED IN THEIR HOME FOR SO LONG. (Dep. 20, 21)

The foregoing testimony well supports the trial court's findings. It is not suggested that the trial court should have made more detailed findings. The mother claims the trial court's findings are sufficient grounds to impose a constructive trust and the findings are adequately supported by substantial evidence.

POINT III

THE DEPOSITION OF THE DEAD PLAINTIFF WAS ADMISSIBLE

Throughout her appeal brief Georgia alludes to Juanita's deposition as being suspect (Br. 6-10, 12, 15, 17-19) The Deposition of Juanita Wintle was not signed by Juanita, who died June 3, 1987, but it is certified by the court reporter on October 30, 1986. The the daughter's trial counsel was present and cross examined the witness. The deposition may be used by the trial court under Rules 30(e) and 32(a)(3)(A) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. The original deposition of Juanita Wintle was filed with the trial court after the

trial. The reasons for the delay in obtaining the deposition are not disclosed or challenged on appeal, except by vague allusions to trustworthiness, and obviously were adequate to the trial court.

CONCLUSION

The trial court judge applied the law to the facts he found to be supported by the evidence. The law applied by a trial court need not necessarily be the same law counsel chose to plead or argue. The daughter complains more about the choice of law applied to the facts by the trial court than about the applicability of the law as found by the trial court. The judgment of the trial court should be affirmed without requiring further findings.